IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC12-1760 Lower Court Case No. 03-1525CF

> DWIGHT T. EAGLIN, Appellant,

> > v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0066850

ELIZABETH STEWART Staff Attorney Florida Bar No. 87450

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTH 1 East Broward Boulevard, Suite 444 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Tel. (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Circuit Court for the Twentieth Judicial Circuit, in and for Charlotte County, Florida, entered the judgments of convictions and death sentence at issue in this case. On June 11, 2003, a grand jury indicted Dwight "Tommy" Eaglin, along with co-defendants Stephen Smith and Michael Jones, on two counts of first-degree murder for the homicides of Charlotte Correctional Officer Darla Lathrem and inmate Charles Fuston, at Charlotte Correctional Institution (CCI). (R. 6-7) At the time of the offense Eaglin was serving a life sentence for first-degree murder in Pinellas County, Florida. Eaglin and his codefendants were part of an inmate workgroup who were participating in the renovations of a dormitory wing at CCI. The homicides occurred during an escape attempt by the three inmates on the last night of the dormitory renovation. Darla Lathrem was found bludgeoned to death

in a mop closet in the renovated dorm and Charles Fuston was found in a cell in the same dorm. At the time of his arrest, Eaglin was attempting to climb the outside fence of the prison. His behavior was erratic and suicidal.

On August 21, 2003, Assistant Public Defenders Douglas Withee and Neil McLoughlin, were appointed as trial counsel to represent Eaglin. (R.1-2) On December 14, 2005 the court conducted a suppression hearing regarding Eaglin's statements to FDLE Agent Ubelacker on June 12, 2003 at CCI following his arrest. These alleged comments included "references to the electric chair" and the comment that "I'll make it easy on you; I tried to kill those three people." (R. 1065) The motion to suppress was subsequently denied by the Honorable William Blackwell and Agent Ubelacker later testified at trial regarding the statements.

The trial commenced on February 20, 2006 before Judge Blackwell. During the trial the State presented the testimony of two CCI inmates and a number of correctional officers working at the time of the escape attempt who found the bodies of the two victims and who observed Eaglin attempting to jump the outer-perimeter of the prison fence. In addition to the testimony of the medical examiner regarding the cause of deaths, the State also presented two FDLE agents responsible for the investigation, collection and testing of blood samples at the crime scene and on Eaglin and the other codefendants. The defense presented no witnesses.

On February 24, 2006, the jury found Eaglin guilty as charged. (R. 1192-1195) The court conducted a penalty phase proceeding on February 27, 2006. The defense team limited its penalty phase presentation to Florida Department of Corrections personnel and a prison systems expert regarding the lack of security at CCI at the time the offense occurred. The defense did not present any friends or family members, social workers, or mental health experts to testify on Eaglin's behalf. Eaglin also testified at the penalty phase.

Prior to Eaglin's testimony Withee notified the court that they would not be presenting mental mitigation or background mitigation despite prior notice to the contrary. The court conducted a brief inquiry of Eaglin regarding both his alleged decision to waive as mitigation his background as well as his attorney's decision to not present mental health mitigation. (R. 1341) The jury recommended that Eaglin be sentenced to death for both murders by a vote of eight-to-four on each murder. (R. 1379)

A *Spencer*¹ hearing was held on March 10, 2006, at which the defense presented only one witness: Tommy Eaglin. Following the *Spencer* hearing, the court entered its sentencing order. ² The trial court rejected the proposed mitigators

¹Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688, 690-91 (Fla. 1993).

²The court found the following aggravators regarding the murder of Darla Lathrem: 1) the capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment; 2) Eaglin had a prior violent felony

stemming from the defense's allegations of prison negligence. After reviewing a presentence investigation (PSI) report the court gave "some weight" to the fact that "Eaglin suffered from a severely abusive childhood with a severely dysfunctional family." On March 31, 2006 the trial court sentenced Eaglin to death. (R. 1387-1410)

Eaglin timely appealed his conviction and sentence to this Court. *Eaglin v. State*, 19 So. 3d 935 (Fla. 2009). This Court affirmed his conviction and sentence on direct appeal. *Id.* This Court found that the presentation of prison negligence as mitigation was unreasonable in light of the current case law and that the trial court had properly rejected the mitigation presentation. *Eaglin v. State*, 19 So. 3d at 944, 950 (Fla. 2009).

On January 5, 2011 Eaglin filed his initial Motion to Vacate Judgments of Conviction and Sentence and on May 26, 2011 Mr. Eaglin amended his motion. The Honorable Christine Greider was reassigned to the case on June 21, 2011.

After conducting a case management conference, Judge Greider granted an

_

conviction; 3) the murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; 4) the murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP); and 5) the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of legal duties. The court found the following aggravators regarding the murder of Charlie Fuston: 1) capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment; 2) the defendant had a prior violent felony conviction; and 3) the murder was CCP.

evidentiary hearing on the following claims: Ground III(a) regarding trial counsel's failure to argue in the motion to suppress that Eaglin was incapable of understanding his *Miranda*³ rights and did not knowingly waive those rights; Ground IV as to whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately counsel Eaglin waiving penalty phase mitigation, and for failing to advise the trial court of Eaglin's history of a major mental illness and Eaglin's noncompliance with necessary medication before the colloquy between the trial court and Eaglin; and Ground V as to whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate and prepare mitigation evidence. Judge Greider summarily denied Eaglin's remaining claims. Prior to the evidentiary hearing, the circuit court granted the State's motion to perpetuate testimony of trial counsel Douglas Withee, who represented Eaglin from his first appearance to trial. Withee's perpetuation occurred on October 20, 2011, at the Charlotte County Jail. (P.5175)

An evidentiary hearing was conducted February 6, 2012 through February 10, 2012. Eaglin presented Neil McLoughlin; Withee's co-counsel who was responsible for the guilt phase of the trial, and Dr. Harry Krop who was retained by Withee as an expert in Eaglin's case. (P.3843) Eaglin planned to present Cheryl Pettry, the mitigation specialist utilized in Eaglin's first trial in Pinellas County who was also retained by Withee in the 2006 Charlotte County case. However,

³Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Pettry, was unable to attend the hearing due to serious illness and the trial court denied Eaglin's request to bifurcate the evidentiary hearing to accommodate her testimony. In lieu of her testimony the court permitted Ms. Pettry to submit an affidavit.

Several lay witnesses also testified on behalf of Eaglin at the evidentiary hearing: Eaglin's brother Donnal Eaglin; Eaglin's father Kenneth Eaglin, foster parent Tim Winge; family friends Barbara and Brad Hussung; three social workers who worked with Eaglin as a child: Jill Hussung, Tom Schwamberger, and Richard Winkler; Eaglin's boxing coach John Vincenguerra; and Eaglin's boxing teammate Mike Middleton.

Eaglin also presented three medical experts at the evidentiary hearing who testified about his history of mental illness and neurological damage.

The State presented two witnesses at the evidentiary hearing: Dennis Wible, an investigator with the Public Defender's Office and Dr. Michael Gamache, a psychologist, called by the State to rebut the testimony of neurologist Dr. Thomas Hyde and psychiatrist Dr. David Pickar.

On July 20, 2012 the circuit court issued its order denying Tommy. Eaglin's motion for postconviction relief. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Pre-Trial Investigation

At the time of his appointment Assistant Public Defender Douglas Withee had worked on "four or five" death penalty cases. (P.5166, 5171) Withee was primarily responsible for the penalty phase. Withee's co-counsel, Neil McLoughlin, was brought into the case as a second chair by Withee and was responsible for the guilt phase of the trial. (P.3843) Eaglin's trial was McLoughlin's first death penalty trial. (P.3843, 4845)

Dennis Wible, an investigator from the public defender's office was "the only one who did anything as far as investigations go." (P.4175) Wible was formally asked to assist on the case on July 16, 2003, a month after the crime occurred at the prison. Withee's initial request was for the collection of "newspaper articles, video surveillance footage from the Charlotte Correctional Institution ... and detailed information concerning personnel at Charlotte Correctional." (P.4135)

As of July 2003 Withee had already determined to pursue "gross prison negligence" as the defense's theory for the penalty phase of Eaglin's trial. (P.4135, 5172, 5230) Withee believed that the negligence theory, which he referred to as a "monster mitigator," should be pursued exclusively instead of also presenting evidence of Eaglin's "touchy feely," "social work" background mitigation.(P.5230) Withee believed "(t)he two defenses, the two mitigators, social work versus prison

negligence are mutually exclusive" and could not be presented together. (P.5220) In presenting DOC negligence at the penalty phase Withee's claimed strategy was "to have the mitigation be pure mitigation to mitigate the penalty, not mitigate the seriousness of the crime." (P.5257, 5259) Withee believed that by presenting Eaglin's childhood to the jury that they would think he was trying "to minimize the offense." (P.5257)

All members of the defense team were aware that Withee had decided on his "DOC negligence" theory early on in the case. (P.3856) According to McLoughlin, the negligence theory was "don't kill Tommy because they can't control him." (P.3865) The team agreed with Withee that they did not want to "muddy the waters" at the penalty phase and present "other little stuff" that "Tommy really didn't want." (P.3866) McLoughlin recalled Withee as saying specifically, "[1]et's not water down the prison negligence issue by bringing in these other things." (P.3868)

On July 23, 2003, Wible and Withee interviewed Eaglin for the first time at Florida State Prison. (P.4142) During this visit Eaglin expressed to Withee that he did not want his mother involved in the case. (P.5218) Although Withee met with Eaglin several times after the July 2003 meeting, he never discussed again with Eaglin his wishes regarding his mother or whether he wanted to present other information about his background during the trial. (P.5193) Withee claimed it was

not necessary to discuss the matter further with his client. (P.5196) Wible met with Eaglin on only one other occasion, interviewing him about the details of the crime. (P.4142) Other than these two visits, Wible had no further contact with Eaglin. (P.4171) During both interviews Wible did not ask about any medical or psychiatric history, nor did he ask if Eaglin was on any medications. (P.4208-9)

In February, 2004 Wible and Withee traveled to Indiana to visit with Anita Luckett, Eaglin's mother, and learned that she had virtually no contact with her son. (P.4158, 4163) They also attempted to speak with Eaglin's paternal grandfather but were not successful in doing so. (P.5186) Withee did not produce notes from the meeting with Anita Luckett. (P.5242) According to Withee "the other people wouldn't talk to us," although he could not recall who those people were. (P.5212)

Although Wible reviewed some records from the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office regarding Eaglin's first murder case and provided a synopsis of those records to Withee, including information regarding Eaglin's friends, foster homes, mental health history, and Pinellas County Jail medical records, Withee never mentioned reviewing the information or the report to Wible. (P.4152-4154, 419, 4153) Withee did not review any foster home records or school records, nor did Withee investigate Eaglin's boxing career. (P.5212-3)

On March 22, 2004 Withee filed an Ex Parte Motion For Expert Regarding

Sanity and Competency Pursuant to FRCP 3.216(a) requesting the appointment of Dr. Harry Krop, Ph.D. (R. 45) The court granted the motion. (R. 44) On May 4, 2004 Wible sent an e-mail to Withee containing a list of 20 family members and foster parents who were potential penalty phase witnesses. (P.4194-5) However, neither Withee nor McLoughlin interviewed any of the potential witnesses. (P.5189-5190) While Withee understood that Eaglin's father was in prison in Illinois, he did not speak with Kenneth Eaglin and only remembered that he was in prison for "violent type situations." (P.5194, 5213) According to Withee no one from the team actually met with his father. (P.5241) After a jumbled attempt at contacting Donnal Eaglin, Eaglin's brother, Wible advised Withee that Donnal was willing to help in his brother's case. However, Withee never spoke with Donnal. (P.4156-7, 5190-1)

On May 6, 2004, Dr. Krop sent his assistant Roseanne Rutledge, a licensed mental health counselor, to do an initial interview with Eaglin. The next day Dr. Krop did a follow-up interview with Eaglin. (P.3504-5) Trial counsel did not instruct Dr. Krop to not talk about the offenses at Charlotte Correctional with Eaglin. Withee "felt that it would be helpful for us to have an account in case there was some type of psychological defense that might be able to be utilized in this case." (P.3507) Rutledge also spoke to Eaglin's mother and his brother, "Kevin" Eaglin over the phone. (P.3501-1)

On May 18, 2004, Rutledge administered testing ordered by Dr. Krop. Dr. Krop explained that he recommended a neuropsychological evaluation based on Eaglin's boxing history, history of other head injuries, and Eaglin's reported use of various types of drugs over the years (P.3504). The testing ordered by Dr. Krop included a short form intelligence test, the Wechsler Abbreviated Scale of Intelligence (the WASI), which Dr. Krop stated may have been a short form of the Wechsler Adult Intelligence test then in use. Dr. Krop did not "feel a need to do a full IQ." (P.3513) Dr. Krop testified that his notes recorded that Eaglin had obtained a full scale IQ score of 126 on Dr. Pearson's 1989 WISC-R intelligence testing. (P.3513-4, Ex. N) Dr. Krop's WASI results indicated a full scale IQ of 117.⁴(P.3524) Eaglin had a below average T score of 40 on the Booklet Categories Test administered by Dr. Krop and also had a T score above 80 on the Wisconsin Card Sort Test. (P.3518) According to Dr. Krop, "if a person does poorly on one of those two tests, I would likely suggest going ahead and doing more complex testing, and even making a referral for a neuropsychological evaluation." (P.3518)

Dr. Krop conducted additional testing including the Finger Tapping Test, the Bender Gestalt, the Aphasia Screening Evaluation, and a Measure of Malingering called the Rey Digit Symbol Test, and finally the Weschler Memory Scale III,

⁴He noted that the full scale IQ score he obtained on the WASI was "remarkably similar" to postconviction expert Dr. Philip Harvey's obtained scores on his testing of Eaglin with the WAIS-IV, a full scale IQ of 118. (P.3524)

Abbreviated form. (P.3518-23) Krop found significant impairment on the Finger Tapping Test but attributed Eaglin's "very, very low" score to possible injuries to the defendant's hands from boxing. (P.3519, 3526) There were at least three testing areas in which Eaglin's scores were problematic: Trail Making, the Categories Test, and the Finger Tapping Test. Given these three scores Dr. Krop would "normally" have recommended a neurological evaluation and further testing but failed to do so in Eaglin's case.

On May 11, 2004, the court granted Withee's request for the appointment of mitigation specialist Cheryl Pettry. (R.68) Pettry had been appointed to provide mitigation services to Eaglin in his prior first degree murder case in 2000, during which she conducted numerous interviews with penalty phase witnesses, as well as social history investigations to assist the Pinellas County Public Defender's Office. (P.3046)

Once appointed, Pettry provided Withee with updated timelines of Eaglin's life as well as a detailed chart of his medical diagnoses and history of medication. (P.3096) Pettry expected to re-interview many of the individuals she previously interviewed as well as additional people involved in Eaglin's life since his incarceration. However, Withee instructed her that she was not to contact anyone from her previous investigation nor was she to discuss with Eaglin involving his family at the penalty phase. (P.3046, 3096) Pettry strongly disagreed with Withee's

instruction and wanted Withee to present Eaglin's social background, information about his time in institutions and foster care, and his childhood history of mental health problems at the penalty phase. (P.3881) She disagreed with Withee's decision to present DOC negligence in lieu of Eaglin's social history mitigation, and considered it "risky." (P.5194)

Despite Pettry's objections Withee prepared for the penalty phase by conducting interviews of prison guards and personnel as well as prisoners who had knowledge about the prison and the crime at CCI. (P.5232) Withee also retained Dr. Aiken, a prison systems expert, who also testified in the civil lawsuit Darla Lathrem's family filed against DOC in connection with her death. (P.3853, 5231) Pettry was tasked with summarizing these interviews of prison guards and personnel in preparation for trial.

On February 3, 2005 Pettry met with Dr. Krop and spent three hours discussing Eaglin's history with him. (P.3498) Dr. Krop also received records and background materials from Withee and Pettry including a prior 1989 psychological evaluation of Eaglin by consulting psychologist Dr. Donald Pearson that was done at Nachusa Children's home when Eaglin was thirteen years old. (P.3502-3). On March 22, 2005 Withee instructed Pettry to cease all work on the case. (P.3097)

On October 20, 2005 Dr. Krop provided a letter to Withee regarding two areas of potential mitigation in Eaglin's case: (1) a dysfunctional family with a

history of emotional abuse, negative role modeling and domestic violence; (2) a serious psychiatric disorder – Bipolar Disorder – and the fact that Eaglin was not on medication at the time of the alleged offense. (P.3528-9). The second factor was "partly based on the records, which reflected his unstable mood states, his periods of depression, his periods of what likely have been hypomanic episodes. His tendency to self-medicate I indicate, to a degree, by using illicit drugs and prescription drugs." (P.3530)

Dr. Krop's diagnostic impressions of Eaglin also included Polysubstance Abuse Disorder and "rule out impulse control disorder" (P.3545, 3550) He also diagnosed anti-social personality disorder (ASPD) as a personality disorder on Axis II which he did not include in his letter of October 20, 2005 concerning potential mitigation because he did not consider that diagnosis to be mitigating. (P.3550).

After his abbreviated deposition on January 26, 2006, Withee and McLoughlin held a final consult with Dr. Krop about the pros and cons of his potential testimony. (P.3538-9) Withee believed Bipolar Disorder was "grossly oversold as causation, if not justification, more likely justification for bad behavior," and decided against the presentation of the mental health mitigation in favor of his DOC negligence theory. (P.5228-9) Although McLoughlin agreed that Eaglin's treatment for Bipolar Disorder could be considered important in the

"negligence" theory, Withee believed that they could not present both DOC negligence as well mental health mitigation because the two different mitigation approaches were mutually exclusive. (P.3878, 3882, 5220)

Pre-trial Motions

Prior to his trial, Eaglin's counsel filed a motion to suppress statements by Eaglin made to FDLE Agent Ubelacker on June 12, 2003 at CCI following his arrest. The statements included statements Eaglin made allegedly prior to the *Miranda* warnings and after *Miranda* was given. The alleged comments included "references to the electric chair" and the comment that "I'll make it easy on you; I tried to kill those three people." (R.1065) After making these statements Eaglin was advised of his *Miranda* rights and he repeated them back to the agents on the tape. (R.1070-71) On the tape transcript, Eaglin admits trying "to jump the fence" but advises that he does not want to talk about the correction officer right now. Then Eaglin says that he wants to get the death penalty and that "he wants the chair." (R.1072-76)

On December 14, 2005 the court conducted a suppression hearing regarding Eaglin's statements to FDLE Agent Ubelacker on June 12, 2003 at CCI following his arrest. Eaglin argued that he was subject to extreme duress and ill treatment at the time of his detention between the fences and thereafter prior to the interview. The impact on Eaglin's physical body and his will included lacerations on his body

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