TGEGKXGF."313214236"384556."Lqj p"C0"Vqo culpq."Engtm"Uwrtgo g"Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DWIGHT T. EAGLIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1760 L.T. No. 03-CF-1525 DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR CHARLOTTE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 14087
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
capapp@myfloridalegal.com
Stephen.Ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The postconviction court properly found that Eaglin failed to establish that his penalty phase counsel was ineffective for investigating or presenting mitigation evidence at the penalty phase. Trial counsel thoroughly investigated Eaglin's background and mental health, despite Eaglin's instructions not to involve his family. At the penalty phase, Eaglin knowingly waived the presentation of background mitigation evidence from his family and agreed with trial counsels' strategic decision to forego presenting mental mitigating evidence. As trial explained at the postconviction evidentiary hearing, the presentation of mental mitigating evidence that Eaglin suffered from bipolar disorder, antisocial personality disorder, and polysubstance abuse would have been a double-edged sword as it would have allowed the State to emphasize detrimental information about Eaglin.

In addition to failing to establish deficient performance, Eaglin failed to establish any prejudice as there is no reasonable probability that the mitigation evidence introduced at the postconviction proceedings would have changed the outcome given the substantial aggravation in this case. Eaglin was serving a life sentence for murder when he attempted to escape from prison and killed a fellow inmate and a prison guard with a

sledgehammer. The sentencing court was aware of, and gave some weight to, Eaglin's family history of neglect, abandonment, and cruelty. There is no reasonable probability that the addition of mental health testimony, and more detailed testimony regarding his family background, would have changed the outcome in this case.

Eaglin failed to present any evidence regarding his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to argue in his motions to suppress that Eaglin was incapable of understanding his Miranda rights. Accordingly, the postconviction court properly found the claim waived. Additionally, the court addressed the merits of the claim and found that Eaglin failed to carry his burden under Strickland of establishing deficient performance and prejudice. There was no evidence presented that Eaglin did not understand his rights, and even assuming that counsel was deficient for failing to raise this argument, there can be no showing of prejudice as Eaglin's post-Miranda statements were cumulative to other spontaneous comments he made which were not suppressible.

The postconviction court properly summarily denied Eaglin's claim that the State utilized inconsistent theories of prosecution in his case and the trial of his codefendant, Stephen Smith. The lower court took judicial notice of Stephen

Smith's case and noted that the records conclusively refuted his claim. Likewise, the court properly summarily denied Eaglin's claim that the State withheld exculpatory evidence regarding codefendant Michael Jones's plea agreement. The evidence of a plea agreement with Jones, occurring after Eaglin's trial, was not exculpatory, the State never suppressed any evidence of the plea agreement as it was done in open court, and Eaglin was not prejudiced in any manner by the alleged suppression. As the postconviction court correctly noted, the record clearly refuted all of the necessary elements of a Brady violation.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY DENIED EAGLIN'S CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL.

In his first issue on appeal, Eaglin combines a number of his postconviction claims regarding trial counsel's alleged ineffectiveness at the penalty phase. The postconviction court granted Eaglin an evidentiary hearing on these claims, and after conducting a week-long hearing, the court denied the claims based on a finding that Eaglin failed to establish both deficient performance and prejudice as required by Strickland v.Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). (PCR V23:4570-4604). The State submits that the lower court properly concluded that Appellant was not entitled to relief on his ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claims.

In order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Strickland, a defendant must establish two general components.

First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the

fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined.

Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). The first prong of this test requires a defendant to establish that counsel's acts or omissions fell outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, in that counsel's errors were "so serious that counsel was not functioning as 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 690. Only a clear, substantial deficiency will meet this test. See Johnson v. State, 921 So. 2d 490, 499 (Fla. 2005). The second prong requires a showing that the "errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable," and thus there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 695. The deficiency must have affected the proceedings to such an extent that confidence in the outcome is undermined. Johnson, 921 So. 2d at 500. When addressing the prejudice prong of a claim directed at penalty phase counsel's performance, the defendant "must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, absent trial counsel's error, the sentencer . . . would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death."

Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1048 (Fla. 2000). Furthermore, as the Strickland Court noted, there is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not ineffective. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690. A fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Id. at 689. The defendant carries the burden to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id.

On appeal, when reviewing a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim, this Court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues, but reviews the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo. Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001). In this case, the lower court properly identified the applicable law in analyzing Eaglin's claims, correctly applied this law to the facts as presented in the trial and postconviction proceedings, and concluded that Eaglin was not entitled to postconviction relief.

A. Eaglin's Limited Waiver of Mitigation

In his first sub-claim, Eaglin alleges that his limited waiver of mitigation was not knowing and voluntary and that the

trial court's colloquy with Eaglin failed to comply with the requirements of Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993), and its predecessors (citing Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2001), and Farr v. State, 621 So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 1993)). Eaglin did not raise this argument in his postconviction motion or amendment (PCR V2:376-482, V4:770-812), and is therefore barred from asserting it now on appeal. See Bates v. State, 3 So. 3d 1091, 1103 n.6 (Fla. 2009). Additionally, even had Eaglin raised this claim in his postconviction motion, it would procedurally barred as it is a claim that could have, and should have, been raised on direct appeal. In fact, Eaglin presented a similar claim on appeal, and this Court rejected his argument. <u>See Eaglin v.</u> State, 19 So. 3d 935, 945-46 (Fla. 2009).

On direct appeal, Eaglin argued that his penalty phase was unreliable because all available mitigating evidence was not presented to the jury and trial court. In rejecting his claim, this Court noted:

As to the claim that all available mitigation was not presented, the record affirmatively establishes that Eaglin instructed his counsel to forego the presentation of evidence regarding his childhood. As to mental mitigation, defense counsel indicated to the court that he felt that the evidence should not be presented to the jury. Although counsel did not specifically state his reasons for his decision to forego mental mitigation, the record demonstrates that Eaglin agreed with his counsel's decision.

. .

First, in this case, Eaglin did not waive all mitigation. We have explained the distinction between the waiver of the right to present mitigation and the decision to limit mitigation. See Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 189 (Fla. 2005). Importantly, we have extended the duty of the trial court to consider all mitigating evidence contained in the record to the extent it is "believable and uncontroverted," Muhammad \underline{v} . State, 782 So. 2d 343, 363 (Fla. 2001), only to cases in which there is a complete waiver of all mitigation.

Id. Contrary to collateral counsel's assertions in his brief, the trial court was not required to conduct any inquiry with Eaglin or his counsel or have counsel proffer any evidence because this was not a case where the defendant instructed his counsel to waive his right to present mitigating evidence. Compare Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993) (setting forth procedures to follow to ensure that a defendant knowingly waives his right to present mitigating evidence) with Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 189 (Fla. 2005) (distinguishing Koon because the defendant did not waive his right to present mitigation when he knowingly waived testimony from his family and friends, but testified on his own behalf during the penalty phase and allowed his pastor to testify). As this Court properly noted on direct appeal, Eaglin did not waive all mitigation, but rather presented testimony from four witnesses regarding the alleged negligence of the prison system and Eaglin himself testified before the jury and at the Spencer hearing.

Finally, even if this Court were to address the instant sub-claim, Eaglin's argument lacks merit as this Court has previously noted that the record "affirmatively" established that Eaglin instructed his counsel not to present mitigating evidence regarding his childhood, and Eaglin agreed with trial counsel's decision not to present mental mitigation. Eaglin, 19 So. 3d at 945 (noting that "the record demonstrates that the waiver of mitigation concerning his childhood was prompted by Eaglin himself because he did not want his family to involved"). During the penalty phase, defense counsel informed the trial court that he had numerous discussions with Eaglin "about putting on a lot of social work things, issues regarding childhood and things of that nature. And it was his opinions at the outset and I believe remains his opinion that we would not do that as far as putting his family through some things that he didn't feel would be fair to them, and as far as putting on Mr. Tim [Winge] who was a foster parent of his in the early years. And we have gone ahead with our preparation on the basis of his wishes along those lines." (DAR V29:1341-42). Thereafter, the trial court questioned Eaglin about his desire not to present this type of mitigation evidence and he concurred with his counsel's representations. Defense counsel then informed the court that he also had discussed presenting mental mitigation

with Eaglin and counsel made the strategic decision not to present such evidence because it would be "dangerous" to present such evidence to the jury. (DAR V29:1342-43). Eaglin informed the court that he agreed with his attorney's decision regarding the mental mitigation and told the court that "when I talked to the doctor, he told me that it was just between him and I. And he wouldn't talk to anybody else. I wouldn't have made any discussion with him if I thought he was going to talk to anybody besides my attorney." (DAR V29:1343). The trial record clearly supports a finding that Eaglin voluntarily and knowingly waived the presentation of this specific mitigating evidence.

The testimony at the evidentiary hearing failed to overcome the validity of Eaglin's record waiver. No testimony was presented at the hearing as to what Eaglin was specifically told with regard to waiving mitigation. Doug Withee testified that when he discussed not bringing in family background evidence with Eaglin, Eaglin was bright and alert, and counsel never had any difficulty communicating with Eaglin; Eaglin appeared to understand the whole picture. (PCR V26:5210-11). Both the direct appeal record and the testimony of the trial attorneys establish that counsel discussed these potential avenues of mitigation with Eaglin, and there has not been any indication that Eaglin did not appreciate the consequences of his failure to present

additional mitigation at the penalty phase. Other witnesses, including Eaglin's brother, also confirmed that Eaglin did not want his family members to testify. (PCR V16:3213, 3264-65). More importantly, Eaglin himself did not testify at the evidentiary hearing, and there is no evidence that he would have allowed the presentation of this type of mitigating evidence, including evidence of an abusive childhood or mental health mitigation. This fact alone is fatal to Eaglin's claim. See generally Gilreath v. Head, 234 F.3d 547, 551-52 (11th Cir. 2000) (stating that, in order to establish prejudice under Strickland, a defendant in these circumstances must establish that had he been more fully advised about the mitigating evidence, he would have allowed counsel to present it to the jury).

As Eaglin's claim in this postconviction appeal regarding the adequacy of the trial court's colloquy is barred and without merit, this Court should deny the instant sub-claim. See generally Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293, 295 (Fla. 1990) (issue raised on direct appeal procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings).

B. Eaglin's Claim of Incompetency is Procedurally Barred

Eaglin next argues that he was not competent to make the

decision to waive mitigating evidence regarding his childhood incompetent when he agreed with trial counsel's and was strategic decision to forego presenting mental mitigation. Eaglin's claim that he was "incompetent" at the time of his limited waiver of mitigation is procedurally barred as this claim was not raised on direct appeal or in Eaglin's postconviction motion. See Nelson v. State, 43 So. 3d 20, 33 (Fla. 2010) (stating that defendant's postconviction substantive due process claim that he was tried and convicted while incompetent was procedurally barred as he failed to raise it on direct appeal). In claim IV of his postconviction motion, collateral counsel alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to advise the trial court of Eaglin's history of "major mental illness" and non-compliance with medication before the colloquy, but Eaglin never alleged that he was legally incompetent at the time and did not have a rational and factual understanding of the proceedings. (PCR V2:396-407). As this claim was not raised below, the instant sub-claim must be denied as procedurally barred.

To the extent that this Court addresses Eaglin's barred claim, the State submits that the evidence adduced at the evidentiary hearing regarding Eaglin's mental state at the time of his waiver clearly establishes that Eaglin was competent.

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